# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC13-632

DERRICK MCLEAN Appellant,

v.

Capital Postconviction Case Lower Tribunal No. 2004-CF-015923

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Gruber
Florida Bar No. 0330541
CAPITAL COLLATERAL
REGIONAL COUNSEL
MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813 740 3544
Counsel for Appellant

#

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a timely appeal from the trial court's final order denying an original motion for postconviction relief from a judgment and sentence of death. This Court has plenary jurisdiction over death penalty cases. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Orange County v. Williams, 702 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1997).

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ABOUT THE RECORD

The original record on appeal comprises twenty-eight consecutively numbered volumes. The pages of the first thirteen volumes are numbered consecutively from one to 2,059. Volume fourteen begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page one through 1994 which concludes volume twenty-six. Volume twenty-seven begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page one through 276 which concludes volume twenty-eight. References to the record on direct appeal are designated "R" followed by the volume and page number.

The pages of the first eight volumes are numbered consecutively from one to 1259. The pages of the ninth and tenth volumes are consecutively numbered from one through 298. References to the postconviction record are in the form PC-R [volume number] / [page number].

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts of this case were recited in the direct appeal decision at *McLean v*. *State*, 9 So.3d 1045 (Fla. 2010). The evidence presented by the State at trial showed as follows. Theothlus Lewis and his wife Shirley Lewis were next door neighbors to Jahvon Thompson in the Silver Pine Apartments. Lewis was watching television when he heard two booms and thought it was loud music next door. Lewis went next door to stop the noise. One of two armed men in the apartment opened the door and motioned Lewis to come in. He was not masked. Lewis also saw a masked man, who was later identified as co-defendant James Jaggon, with the victim, Jahvon Thompson, coming from the hallway area. The first gunman then kept searching through the apartment while the masked person stood guard with the gun.

After concluding the search, the first gunman told the guy with the mask to go outside and if he saw the girl next door to shoot her. The first gunman remained standing by the door. Sensing something was wrong, Theo Lewis dove to the floor

and crawled towards the back of the apartment. As soon as Lewis turned around he felt a bullet go across his ear. Lewis then realized he was shot in the back. Several other shots were fired. The perpetrators fled. After a few moments, Lewis got up and started towards the door. Lewis saw that Jahvon had been shot. Lewis went to his apartment and his wife called 911. R19, 792 - 810.

According to the direct appeal opinion what happened next was as follows:

Meanwhile, Lewin and Jaggon drove off, McLean left the scene on foot, and the three men met up at a nearby restaurant. McLean, still carrying the blue pillow sham from the apartment, got into the car with Lewin and Jaggon, and Lewin pulled the car out onto the road. A police officer, who was driving an unmarked car in the vicinity and had been notified of the shooting, saw the gold Buick pass by, and he activated his lights and initiated pursuit. Lewin sped up and attempted to elude the officer but soon crashed into the marked patrol car of a sheriff's deputy who was investigating an unrelated incident nearby. The deputy, who was in his marked car, saw the Buick coming at him and ran from his vehicle in order to get out of the way. Lewin's car struck the marked car, sending it into the deputy, who was struck in the hip and thrown fifteen to twenty feet. The deputy saw Jaggon sitting in the front passenger seat of the Buick. He also saw McLean running from the Buick.

State v. McLean, 29 So.3d 1048.

Soon thereafter a canine officer located a person that met Lewin's Captain Ellis' description. R20, 874-85. Another canine officer also came to the scene to do tracking. R20, 923. Approximately thirty yards into woods near the crash site the dog came across some items that looked like they were freshly placed there. They

were black and white full finger batting gloves, a baseball hat and a shirt. *Id.* 925.

About a week later the police were given information from an anonymous "Crimeline" tip about a third person named "Derrick." This was suspected to be a reference to Lewin's cousin, Derrick McLean. R20, 944-45.

On December 9th a photo lineup including McLean was presented to Lewis, who said he was "90% sure" that the photograph of the defendant was the shooter. R20, 951. The defendant was arrested on an unrelated probation violation warrant. Lewis then identified the defendant in the live lineup. R20, 957.

James Jaggon is serving a prison sentence of twenty three years as part of an agreement to testify in this case. R20, 1024. Lewin also testified in exchange for a plea to a twenty-year sentence for burglary of a dwelling and attempted home invasion robbery. Their testimony about the events leading up to the robbery was recounted in the trial court's sentencing order:

On November 24, 2004, James Jaggon and Maurice Lewis planned to rob Jahvon Thompson's apartment. James, 15 years old at the time, knew Jahvon through playing basketball with him at the local YMCA. James also knew that Jahvon's father sold marijuana from the apartment and believed that a large amount would be present on this particular day. Maurice did not feel comfortable doing the robbery with James alone because of his young age so he contacted the defendant, his cousin, and spoke to him about assisting them. The defendant agreed. James and Maurice picked him up from his apartment. The defendant entered the vehicle with a gun, a set of batting gloves and a

mask. James and Maurice already had guns with them.

As they traveled to Jahvon's apartment, all three discussed how the robbery would occur. Maurice would remain in the vehicle as the getaway driver. He would monitor the robbery by way of the speaker on his cellular telephone. The defendant and James would go to the apartment to commit the robbery. The defendant would also have the speaker on his cellular phone on so that Maurice could hear what transpired. No one discussed shooting or killing anyone during the course of the robbery, although they agreed to bring guns with them. Maurice believed this would be an easy robbery because James knew Jahvon. Neither Maurice nor the defendant knew Jahvon or his father.

R11, 1765. As the court noted, "James and Maurice were arrested that day and interviewed by Detective Joel Wright of the Orlando Police Department. Initially, both lied about what occurred at Jahvon's apartment. Through other investigative leads, the defendant was developed as a suspect. James and Maurice also changed their stories and implicated the defendant." *Id.* 1768.

Law enforcement recovered gloves and a shirt in the woods adjacent to the car crash. DNA recovered from the gloves and the shirt matched the defendant's DNA. R22, 1285-90. The blue pillow sham had a few brownish stains that tested presumptively positive for blood. R22, 1303. The stain contained the DNA profile of McLean. *Id.* 1292-93, 1303.

After the defendant rejected an offer to plead guilty in exchange for a life

sentence, the case proceeded to a jury trial, where he was convicted as charged. This Court described the penalty phase testimony this way:

During the penalty phase, the defense offered expert testimony regarding McLean's psychological, mental, and emotional health as well as testimony from McLean's older brother. One defense psychologist diagnosed McLean with an organic brain impairment, although the psychologist had no medical records or diagnostic studies to confirm any brain injury. Another defense psychologist testified that McLean had some history of substance abuse and functioned at the emotional level of an adolescent. Both psychologists diagnosed McLean with borderline personality disorder but found that he was of average intelligence. McLean's brother testified to a history of some family dysfunction.

The jury voted nine to three in favor of a death sentence. After conducting a Spencer hearing, the trial court followed the jury's recommendation, finding that the three aggravating factors outweighed several mitigating factors. Of the aggravators, the court found (1) that when McLean committed the murder, he had been previously convicted of a felony and placed on felony probation (moderate weight); (2) that McLean was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence, based on McLean's prior armed robbery conviction and the contemporaneous conviction for the attempted first-degree murder of Lewis (great weight); and (3) that McLean committed the murder during the commission of a robbery (great weight). The trial court found two statutory mitigating circumstances: (1) McLean's mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime (little weight); and (2) McLean's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law (little weight). The court also found six categories of nonstatutory mitigating

circumstances: (1) mental health issues (no weight); (2) substance abuse issues (little weight); (3) disparate treatment of codefendants (no weight); (4) family problems (little weight); (5) brain injury (little weight); and (6) miscellaneous factors, such as poor grades in high school, good behavior in court, and lack of positive role models in his youth (little weight).

State v. McLean, 29 So. 3d 1045, 1049. A timely petition for a writ of certiorari predicated on Ring vs. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) was denied. McLean v. Florida, 131 S.Ct. 153 (Oct. 04, 2010).

A timely Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence was filed October 4, 2011 pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. The claims raised were:

Claim I: Counsel's failure to call an expert in misidentification deprived him to his rights to a fair trial and capital sentencing under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

Claim II: Mr. Mclean's convictions are constitutionally unreliable in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments as established by newly discovered evidence; to wit: recantation by co-defendant James Jaggon

Claim III: Mclean's state and constitutional rights were violated by the institutional destruction of relevant and potentially exculpating evidence; to wit: the crimeline tape

Subclaim: Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to assert institutional destruction of evidence as an independent ground for relief

Claim IV: The defendant received both ineffective assistance of counsel and a failure of due process when he was excluded from the hearing on his pro se motion

to replace or discharge counsel

Claim V: The defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel due to counsel's failure to employ a cell phone expert

Claim VI: Counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to employ the aid of a mental health expert or other third parties in plea discussions with the defendant

Claim VII: Mr. Mclean received ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase from failure to investigate and present available mental and developmental mitigation

Claim VIII: Florida's lethal injection method of execution is cruel and unusual punishment and would deprive Mr. McLean of due process and equal protection of the law in violation of the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and corresponding portions of the Florida Constitution.

Claim IX: Fla. Stat. 945.10 prohibits Mr. Mclean from knowing the identity of the execution team members, denying him his constitutional rights under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments and corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

Claim X: Mr. Mclean's Eighth Amendment right against cruel and unusual punishment will be violated as Mr. Mclean may be incompetent at time of execution.

Claim XI: Cumulative error deprived the defendant of the fundamentally fair trial guaranteed under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

The postconviction court granted an evidentiary hearing on claims one through seven. The hearing was conducted on September 4-5, 2012, with written closing arguments submitted shortly thereafter. The court entered an order denying all claims for relief on February 15, 2013. This appeal follows.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are governed by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). To establish deficiency under Strickland, the defendant must prove that counsel's performance was unreasonable under "prevailing professional norms." Morris v. State, 931 So.2d 821, 828 (Fla.2006) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). To establish prejudice, the defendant must prove that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Both prongs of the Strickland test present mixed questions of law and fact. For this reason, the Court employs a mixed standard of review-deferral to the factual findings of the circuit court that are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but de novo review of legal conclusions. See Sochor v. State, 883 So.2d 766, 771–72 (Fla.2004).

In Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003), the United States Supreme Court held that "Strickland does not establish that a cursory investigation automatically justifies a tactical decision with respect to sentencing strategy. Rather a reviewing court must consider the reasonableness of the investigation said to

support that strategy." *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 527 (2003). "[S]trategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation. In other words, counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary. In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness." *Id.* at 521 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-91).

Prejudice, in the context of claims of penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel, is shown where, absent the deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances would have been different or the deficiencies substantially impair confidence in the outcome of the proceedings. *Lynch v. State*, 2 So.3d 47, 70 (Fla.2008); *Floyd v. State*, 18 So. 3d 432, 453 (Fla. 2009).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In his first claim for relief Appellant argues that trial counsel's failure to call an expert in misidentification deprived him to his rights to a fair trial and capital sentencing Defense counsel did not seek to use an expert in the field of eyewitness identification to challenge this aspect of the State's case either during the suppression hearing or at trial. At the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel's expert, Dr. Brigham, testified consistently with the report he wrote about this case, which was attached to the Rule 3.851 motion and ultimately admitted in evidence. This evidence could have been presented to the court but was not due to ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Counsel's failure to at least explore the use of an eyewitness expert whether due to a mistaken view of the status of the law or simply because no one thought of it was deficient performance under the first prong of *Strickland*.

As for prejudice, after a court hearing that they attended, both Shirley and Theothlus Lewis identified Maurice Lewin, not McLean, as the shooter. With regard to forensic corroborating evidence, when the police searched Lewin's Buick they found the marijuana in a pillow case. They took the marijuana out of the pillow case, placed it on top of the case on the back seat in the car and took a picture of it. In other words, the marijuana, the container it was in, and the whole interior of the car were hopelessly contaminated. The car belonged to Maurice Lewin, McLean along with any number of other people had been in and out of it numerous times. There is no evidence that the shooter bled at any time during this incident. In fact, there is no crime scene evidence connecting Derrick McLean to the apartment where the shooting took place. No blood, hair, fingerprints, DNA or anything else.

The sentence of death also rests in a large part on the credibility of the

co-defendants' testimony about McLean's state of mind and his role in the crime. Absent that, the evidence indicates that this was simply a drug related robbery gone bad. The totality of facts from the trial proceedings, evaluated along with the evidence presented either at the postconviction evidentiary hearing undermines confidence in outcome of the trial sufficient to warrant relief.

Claim II is that defense counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to prevent the institutional destruction of potentially exculpatory evidence. Destruction of potentially exculpatory evidence, including impeaching, evidence, is an issue that arises frequently in postconviction proceedings. It often arises in the context of destroyed tissue samples such as might be obtained by examining physical evidence that might have trace amounts of blood, skin tissue, hair and so on, which could be analyzed for DNA. This situation is somewhat different because it concerns the recording of an anonymous tipster who likely was a family member and possibly an actual or potential witness, perhaps even a co-defendant or member of a co-defendant's family, and who received a significant amount of money for his or her information. "Access to evidence" cases cited herein implicitly recognize the prosecutor's duty to retain material evidence for the use of the defense and require sanctions for violation of the duty. When the State routinely destroys evidence, in this case of a person claiming to have relevant knowledge of the identity of a murder

suspect and who received a monetary reward for informing on the defendant, the judiciary is excluded entirely and forever from any sort of oversight role, and the prosecution is freed from even any sense, let alone reality, of accountability. McLean further argues that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to take any action to have the tape preserved, either by way of a subpoena duces tecum or otherwise.

Claim IV is that Mr. Mclean received ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase from failure to investigate and present available mental and developmental mitigation. Counsel provided ineffective assistance by their failure to investigate and present evidence of the mental disorder, Adult Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, through the defense mitigation expert, Dr. Eisenstein. Moreover they failed to adequately investigate the defendant's background so as to provide adequate factual support this diagnosis. Counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate the Defendant's background, hire the necessary mental health experts, provide the experts with available background material, supervise the administration of available mental health tests, and present a wealth of available mitigation to the jury in this case. The balance of aggravators and mitigators was altered by counsel's deficient performance, and relief should be granted.

This Brief also contends that the defendant received both ineffective

assistance of counsel and a failure of Due Process when he was excluded from the hearing on his *pro se* motion to replace or discharge counsel (Claim III); that Florida's lethal injection method of execution is cruel and unusual punishment (Claim V); that Fla. Stat. 945.10 prohibits Mr. Mclean from knowing the identity of the execution team members, denying him his constitutional rights (Claim VI); that Mr. Mclean's Eighth Amendment right against cruel and unusual punishment will be violated as he may be incompetent at time of execution (Claim X); and that cumulative error deprived the defendant of the fundamentally fair trial guaranteed under the sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments (Claim XI).

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **CLAIM I**

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