TGEGKXGF. '341; 14235''33 </ >

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DERRICK MCLEAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC13-632 L.T. No. 2004-CF-015923-A-O

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 capapp@myfloridalegal.com [and] scott.browne@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Initially, the trial court below properly recognized that the substantive claim regarding the destruction of evidence was procedurally barred from review. The court stated:

To the extent Mr. McLean claims his state and constitutional rights were violated by the institutional destruction of the Crimeline tape, this is an issue that should have been raised at trial and, if properly preserved, on direct appeal. Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred from collateral attack in a motion for postconviction relief. See Schoenwetter v. State, 46 So. 3d 535, 561 (Fla. 2010) ("[I]ssues that could have been raised on direct appeal, but were not, are not cognizable through collateral attack") (citations omitted); Hannon v. State, 941 So. 2d 1109, 1141 (Fla. 2006) (finding the claim at issue procedurally barred where the facts that formed the basis for the claim were known to the defendant at the time of trial and could have been and should have been presented on direct appeal).

(V7, 1172).

The trial court properly recognized that this claim is procedurally barred. Defense counsel below filed a motion to obtain this information and was informed that the recording of the tip itself had been destroyed or taped over. (V6, 897-98; V7, 1111). Consequently, this is an issue which should have been raised, if at all, at trial and on direct appeal. See Schoenwetter v. State, 46 So. 3d 535, 561 (Fla. 2010) ("[I]issues that could have been raised on direct appeal, but were not, are not cognizable through collateral attack.") (citing Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1994) (citation omitted); Hannon v. State, 941 So. 2d 1109, 1141 (Fla. 2006) (finding the claim procedurally barred where "the facts that formed the basis for this alleged conflict of interest were known to Hannon at the time of his trial and, therefore, could have been and should have been presented on direct appeal"). Thus, it is procedurally barred from review in this motion for post-conviction relief.

Recognizing the procedural bar, McLean cryptically asserts that trial counsel was ineffective in presenting or preserving this claim. However, this claim fails to meet either prong of Strickland.

In denying the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the trial court stated:

Mr. McLean's assertion that counsel was ineffective for failure to raise the issue of the destruction of the Crimeline tape at trial is without merit. Crimeline is a program which allows anonymous persons to supply police agencies with information regarding criminal activity. State v. Poole, 665 So. 2d 1065, 1066 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). "[T]he disclosure of the identity of a confidential informant invades an important governmental privilege and implicates the public's interest in effective law enforcement." State Harklerode, 567 So. 2d 982, 985 (Fla. 5th DCA V. 1990). A defendant must show "that disclosure of identities or of the contents of the communications is relevant and helpful to the defense of the accused, or is essential to a fair determination of the cause." Poole, 665 So. 2d at 1066. Here, counsel cannot be ineffective for failure to obtain the tip records when there is no indication that said records would have been particularly helpful to the defense or that the State would have been required to produce such information. Mr. McLean has simply alleged that the tipster may have had a personal agenda against him but fails to state how the tipster's identity or the Crimeline itself would have been evidence tape favorable to Mr. McLean. "Postconviction relief cannot be based on speculative assertions." Jones v. State, 845 So. 2d 55, 64 (Fla. 2003). Clearly the information obtained identifying Mr. McLean and implicating him in the robbery and murder is incriminating, but there is no indication or argument that the tip was "exculpatory" constituting Brady' material or even subject to disclosure pursuant to Harklerode.

Mr. McLean has also failed to show that the tape still existed at the time when counsel became involved in the case. Both William McClellan and Ms. Cashman stated that they were interested in the name of the tipster and had discussed obtaining the information. Ms. Cashman testified that it was her understanding that the tape would have been destroyed within 30 days of being made. However, counsel still filed a Motion to Compel production of the Crimeline tape and the identity of the tipster several months later as part of conducting full and complete discovery even though she reasonably believed the tape would have already been erased. She further testified that she alternatively deposed Detective Joel Wright about the information obtained from the tip and how it was used in his investigation.

Finally, Mr. McLean has not established that the destruction of the Crimeline tape constitutes bad faith destruction of evidence. In *Guzman v. State*, 868 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 2003), the Florida Supreme Court detailed the burden a defendant must meet to establish a constitutional violation on the basis of bad faith destruction of evidence. The court stated:

loss or destruction of evidence that The is potentially useful to the defense violates due process only if the defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police or prosecution. See Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988). Under Youngblood, bad faith exists only when police intentionally destroy evidence they believe would exonerate a defendant. Youngblood explained that the "presence or absence of bad faith . . . must necessarily turn on the police's knowledge of the exculpatory value of the evidence at the time it was lost or destroyed." Id. at 57 n. ", 109 S.Ct. 333. Evidence that has not been examined or tested by government agents does not have "apparent exculpatory value" and thus cannot form the basis of a claim of bad faith destruction of evidence. See id. at 57, 109 S.Ct. 333 (rejecting a due process claim based on the government's failure to preserve evidence "of which no more said than that it could can be have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant"); see also King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237, 1242 (Fla. 2002) (holding that a defendant failed to show bad faith on the part of the State in destroying hair and tissue evidence, in part because the defendant failed to show the police made a "conscious effort to prevent the defense from securing the evidence"); Merck v. State, 664 So. 2d 939, 942 (Fla. 1995) (holding that the defendant failed to show bad faith in a police detective's failure to preserve a pair of pants found at a crime scene, because the detective believed they did not have evidentiary value).

*Guzman*, 868 So. 2d at 509. The Crimeline tape was destroyed pursuant to institutional policy, not in bad faith.

Mr. McLean has failed to show that counsel was deficient because he has not proven the tape to be exculpatory in nature or that it was even available for production. He has also not proven that the destruction of the tape was in bad faith. Claim III is denied.

(V7, 1172-74). The court's detailed order is well reasoned, and should be affirmed on appeal.

As an initial matter, it is clear that such Crimeline tips as at issue in this case are anonymous. In <u>Proctor v. State</u>, 319 S.W. 3d 175, 185 (Tex. App.-Houston [1 Dist.] 2010) the court recognized the public's compelling interest in retaining the confidentiality of such tips:

Here, appellant made no showing to the trial court that the crime stoppers report would be either exculpatory or material or that it would create the probability of a different outcome under the circumstances of this case and would therefore have served appellant's due process interest in the production of exculpatory information. See Mitchell, 977 S.W. 2d at 578. The subpoena of the crime stoppers report under these circumstances could only have undermined the State's compelling interest in furthering law enforcement by intimidating informants from coming forward with information as to where an accused could be found. See Thomas, 837 S.W. 2d at 114 (holding that allowing unrestricted access to crime stoppers information could compromise State's efforts to protect identity of crime stoppers informants). We

hold that the trial court was not required to subpoena the crime stoppers records in this case, and thus it did not abuse its discretion in not conducting an in camera review of the information in the crime stoppers tip.

<u>See</u> <u>State v. Poole</u>, 665 So. 2d 1065, 1066 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (noting the privilege of non-disclosure of confidential informants and the burden on the defendant to prove the content of communications with an informant is necessary to a fair determination of the cause).

Defense counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to obtain Crimeline records where there is no reason to believe, even now, such records would have been helpful to the defense or, that the State would be required to divulge such information. McLean's allegations fall far short of a threshold showing of either deficient performance or resulting prejudice. Moreover, McLean was provided an evidentiary hearing on this claim and completely failed to support his allegations with any evidence to suggest, much less establish that any beneficial evidence could have been obtained with further information about the Crimeline tip. Accordingly, this claim is facially insufficient to merit postconviction relief, much less meet either prong of Strickland.

In any case, McLean failed to prove such records still existed at the point in time when trial counsel became involved in the case. Cashman testified at the evidentiary hearing that it was her understanding that the tapes in question would normally have been erased and would no longer have been in existence for her to obtain by the time she filed a motion to compel. (V7, 1111). McClellan testified that the Crimeline tape recording itself is routinely erased or destroyed. (V6, 898). Counsel attempted to obtain this information and cannot be faulted for failing to do more, where no evidence was introduced to establish such information was either material or would have been available had counsel filed an earlier request to obtain this information.<sup>6</sup>

Mclean has not established any plausible legal theory which would entitle him to post-conviction relief in this case. Indeed, much of McLean's brief on this issue addresses a general statement of the law without an attempt to apply that law to the facts of this case. (Appellant's Brief at 32-35). While McLean cryptically asserts a bad faith destruction of evidence claim which is procedurally barred, he completely fails to meet his burden of establishing entitlement to relief under this theory. In <u>Guzman v. State</u>, 868 So. 2d 498, 509 (Fla. 2003), this Court recognized the defendant bears a heavy burden to establish a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Cashman filed a motion to compel, but, it was her understanding that the tape had already been destroyed. (V7, 1111).

constitutional violation on the basis of destruction of

evidence. The court stated:

The loss or destruction of evidence that is potentially useful to the defense violates due process only if the defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police or prosecution. See Arizona V. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988). Under Youngblood, bad faith exists only when police intentionally destroy evidence they believe would exonerate a defendant. Youngblood explained that the "presence or absence of bad faith ... must necessarily turn on the police's knowledge of the exculpatory value of the evidence at the time it was lost or destroyed." Id. at 57 n. \*, 109 S.Ct. 333. Evidence that has not been examined or tested by government agents does not have "apparent exculpatory value" and thus cannot form the basis of a claim of bad faith destruction of evidence. See id. at 57, 109 S.Ct. 333 (rejecting a due process claim based on the government's failure to preserve evidence "of which no more can be said than that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant"); see also King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237, 1242 (Fla. 2002) (holding that a defendant failed to show bad faith on the part of the State in destroying hair and tissue evidence, in part because the defendant failed to show the police made a "conscious effort to prevent the defense from securing the evidence"); Merck v. State, 664 So. 2d 939, 942 (Fla. 1995) (holding that the defendant failed to show bad faith in a police detective's failure to preserve a pair of pants found at a crime scene, because the detective believed they did not have evidentiary value).

#### Guzman, 868 So. 2d at 509.

McLean's allegations do not show that the tip line or reward information would have been useful, or, that the destruction of "evidence" was in bad faith. Obviously, the information identifying McLean as a participant in the robbery and murder is incriminating. At no point has McLean offered a credible scenario to suggest, much less establish that information favorable to the defense was contained in the confidential tip line or reward information. Post-conviction relief cannot be obtained on the basis of speculation and theoretical conjecture. See Spencer v. State, 842 So. 2d 52, 63 (Fla. 2003) (In rejecting an ineffectiveness claim this Court noted that reversible error cannot be predicated on "conjecture.") (citing Sullivan v. State, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974)). Further, since the tip implicating McLean was certainly not "exculpatory" it cannot constitute Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) material. Kelley v. State, 3 So. 3d 970, 973 (Fla. 2009) (evidence disposition forms which had been destroyed did not constitute Brady material where the forms were neither favorable to Kelley or offer means to impeach or implicate someone else); Jennings v. State, 782 So. 2d 853, 856 (Fla. 2001) (The first requisite element of a Brady violation is evidence favorable to the accused.).

In sum, the instant claim lacks merit as a matter of law and fact. Accordingly, the trial court's order denying postconviction relief should be affirmed.

## WHETHER MCLEAN WAS DEPRIVED OF THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN HE WAS EXCLUDED FROM A PORTION OF A BENCH CONFERENCE DURING A HEARING TO REPLACE OR DISCHARGE COUNSEL?

McLean claims that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to ensure that McLean was present during a bench conference during the hearing on his motion to discharge or replace trial counsel. However, McLean presented no evidence in support of this claim during the evidentiary hearing below. The trial court properly denied this unsupported and procedurally barred claim below.

In rejecting this claim, the trial court stated:

Claim 4 is denied for several reasons. First, Mr. McLean presented no evidence in support of this claim at the postconviction evidentiary hearing. Therefore, it remains legally insufficient. Second, this issue was raised on direct appeal and the Florida Supreme Court found it was not error to exclude Mr. Mc Lean from the bench conference because he was not entitled to a Nelson hearing on the issue in the first place. McLean v. State, 29 So. 3d 1045, 1050 (Fla. 2010). Thus, the claim is procedurally barred. See Sired v. State, 469 So. 2d 119, 120 (Fla. 1985) ("[c]laims previously raised on direct appeal will not be heard on a motion for post-conviction relief simply because those claims are raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel"). Claim IV is denied.

(V7, 1174-75).

As found by the trial court, this claim is procedurally barred. This Court specifically addressed the apparent exclusion of McLean from the bench conference on direct appeal and found no error under these facts. McLean v. State, 29 So. 3d 1045, 1050 (Fla. 2010) ("No error occurred when McLean could not hear a portion of the Nelson hearing proceedings because McLean was entitled to Nelson hearing the not a on issue beina discussed."). Indeed, McLean essentially concedes application of the procedural bar, when, attempting to excuse his complete failure to present evidence in support of this claim below, he states the "record support for this claim" comes from the trial record. (Appellant's Brief at 37). Accordingly, the claim is procedurally barred here. See Reaves v. State, 826 So. 2d 932, 936 (Fla. 2002) (noting that claims are procedurally barred from review in a motion for postconviction relief where they were either raised on direct appeal or should have been raised on direct appeal); Sireci v. State, 773 So. 2d 34, 41 (Fla. 2000) (finding claims procedurally barred because they either were or could have been raised in prior proceedings and noting that "to the extent that Sireci uses a different argument to relitigate the same issue, the claims remain procedurally barred.").

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